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The Honorable Sanket J. Bulsara 
United States District Court  
Eastern District of New York 
225 Cadman Plaza East 
Brooklyn, New York 11201 

 
Re: United States v. Marcus Ricketts 
 Docket No. 22-MJ-100  

 
Dear Judge Bulsara:   

The government respectfully submits this letter to request that a permanent order 
of detention be entered against the defendant Marcus Ricketts, who is scheduled to be arraigned 
before Your Honor this afternoon.  For the reasons set forth below, the government submits that 
no combination of conditions can reasonably secure the defendant’s appearance at trial or the 
safety of the community.  

 
I. Procedural and Factual Background1 

In early December 2021, the defendant and numerous co-conspirators convened at 
a vacation home on Brighton 4 Court in Brighton Beach, Brooklyn, New York (the 
“Residence”), for a wholesale marijuana transaction, which escalated into a shootout involving 
multiple firearms and a fatality. 

On December 2, 2021, co-defendant Jonathan Zephir, his uncle (the “Decedent”) 
and a female associate, all residents of upstate New York, traveled to and arrived at the 
Residence in Brighton Beach, which had been rented from Airbnb that morning for one night’s 
stay.  Earlier that day, the Decedent texted co-defendant Jonathan Goulbourne, “Saw Sean last 
night hoping they make a move today.”  Several hours later, at 7:44 p.m., the Decedent texted a 
co-conspirator (“Co-Conspirator 1”), “Hit me back we are waiting on you.”    

 
1  All dates and times are in approximations. 
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At 9:26 p.m., co-defendant Goulbourne’s grey Dodge Caravan drove southbound 
on Pennsylvania Avenue in Brooklyn, New York, in the direction of and approximately 10 miles 
from the Residence.  At 9:34 p.m., Co-Conspirator 1 texted the Decedent, “15 mins,” suggesting 
he was 15 minutes away.  At 10:23 p.m., the Decedent met the defendant, Co-Conspirator 1 and 
another male (“Co-Conspirator 2”) outside the Residence and escorted them into the home.   

Two hours later, on December 3, 2021, at 12:35 a.m., Zephir left the Residence 
and returned with two male associates (“Subject 1” and “Subject 2”).  Zephir, Subject 1 and 
Subject 2 each carried a very large duffle bag into the Residence.  Zephir left and returned with a 
fourth very large duffle bag.  At 12:42 a.m., Zephir instructed the female associate to go sit in his 
car, which she did.  At 1:30 a.m., Zephir momentarily left the Residence talking on a cellphone 
and stated something regarding “bad weed.” 

At 2:06 a.m., Co-Conspirator 2 left the Residence and returned with two males 
(“Co-Conspirator 3” and “Co-Conspirator 4”).  Shortly thereafter, at approximately 2:18 a.m., 
the sound of gunshots erupted from the Residence. 

At 2:19 a.m., Co-Conspirator 3 fled and entered a silver Volkswagen Tiguan; he 
was thereafter dropped off at the Jacobi Medical Center in the Bronx, New York, where he 
received treatment for a gunshot wound to his stomach. 

At 2:20 a.m., the defendant and Co-Conspirator 1 fled from the Residence, 
carrying and dragging one of the very large duffle bags and a smaller bag, and carrying firearms.   
Photographs of the defendant are depicted below.  
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At 2:21 a.m., on a neighboring street, the defendant stole a Citibike from a 
passerby and used the Citibike to transport the very large duffle bag, as depicted in the 
photograph below.   

At 2:22 a.m., Co-Conspirator 1 ran from the Residence southbound on Brighton 4 
Court to the intersection of Ocean View Avenue, carrying the small duffle bag.  At the same 
time, he called co-defendant Goulbourne.  Co-Conspirator 1 got into co-defendant Goulbourne’s 
Dodge Caravan at the intersection of Ocean View Avenue, which then reversed down Brighton 4 
Court at a high speed and stopped in front of the Residence.   

At 2:24 a.m., Co-Conspirator 1 exited the Dodge Caravan, returned to the 
Residence while still carrying a firearm, peered inside the door, and then re-entered the Dodge 
Caravan.  Moments later, the Dodge Caravan drove away from the Residence. 

In the early morning of December 3, 2021, at 2:27 a.m., law enforcement 
responded to the Residence.  The Decedent was unconscious, having sustained numerous 
gunshot wounds to his legs and chest, and he died a few hours later.  Zephir was found inside the 
Residence, having sustained a gunshot wound to his leg.  Zephir was taken to a nearby hospital 
for treatment.   
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Inside the Residence, law enforcement recovered, among other things, a .38 
caliber Walter PPK/S pistol and a.40 caliber Beretta Px4 Storm pistol with a defaced serial 
number, both of which had been placed on a kitchen countertop; approximately 15 shell casings, 
from .38, .40 and 9mm ammunition; a money counting machine; a vacuum sealing machine; a 
very large duffle bag, inside of which were smaller vacuum-sealed bags of marijuana; and stacks 
of real and counterfeit currency, some of which is depicted in the photographs below.  
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In the vicinity of the Residence, law enforcement recovered, among other things, 
a.40 caliber Sig Sauer SP2340 pistol with a defaced serial number; a.38 caliber Ruger Mayodan 
pistol; and two of the very large duffle bags, as depicted in the photographs below.   
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The marijuana inside the three very large duffle bags found inside the Residence 
and in the vicinity of the Residence collectively weighed approximately 64 kilograms.  The 
fourth very large duffle bag has not been recovered.  The street value of the marijuana involved 
is approximately half a million dollars. 

On or about February 8, 2022, the Honorable Ramon E. Reyes, Jr., United States 
Magistrate Judge for the Eastern District of New York, signed an amended complaint charging 
the defendant, among others, with violating 21 U.S.C. § 846 for the above-described conduct.  
On or about February 10, 2022, two co-defendants, Jonathan Goulbourne and Jonathan Zephir, 
were arrested and arraigned.  On the same day, the defendant contacted law enforcement and 
stated, in sum and substance and in part, that he knew he was wanted, that law enforcement 
would not be able to find him, but that he would turn himself in at a later date.  Five days later, 
the defendant surrendered to law enforcement.  

II. Criminal History

The defendant entered this country unlawfully after having previously been 
removed from the United States.  His criminal history involves firearm offenses and an armed 
robbery similar to the instant offense, as well as bail jumping and failures to appear for court 
proceedings as directed.  

On or about March 30, 2013, the defendant was arrested in Queens, New York, 
for a firearms offense after fleeing from law enforcement.  Specifically, while driving, the 
defendant failed to stop at a stop sign, fled from an officer after the officer activated his lights 

7 
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and siren, stopped for the officer but then sped away when the officer exited the police car, was 
unable to produce a valid license when the officer finally effected a successful stop, and a 9mm 
Ruger semi-automatic firearm was thereafter recovered from the defendant’s car.  See 15-CR-
161 (S.D.N.Y.) Dkt. No. 63 at 2. 

While on bail in the above-referenced case, the defendant failed to appear for a 
May 16, 2014, court date and a bench warrant was issued.  He did not appear in court in 
connection with that case until March 15, 2015, at which time he was notified he would be 
charged with bail jumping.  The defendant again failed to appear on March 17, 2015, for 
arraignment on the bail jumping charges and he also failed to appear on April 23, 2015, in 
connection with the firearm case.  Two more bench warrants were issued.  See id.  Both cases 
appear to have been subsequently dismissed in favor of the federal prosecution described below. 

On July 13, 2015, while the above-referenced warrants were active, the defendant 
was federally arrested in connection with an August 14, 2014, armed home invasion of a 
gentleman in the Bronx, New York, which the defendant committed with multiple co-
conspirators.  On April 20, 2016, the defendant was convicted of attempted Hobbs Act robbery, 
in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1951 and 2.  On October 5, 2016, the defendant was sentenced by 
the Honorable Analisa Torres, United States District Judge for the Southern District of New 
York, to 48 months’ imprisonment and three years’ supervised release.  See 15-CR-161 
(S.D.N.Y.) Dkt. No. 74. 

On October 28, 2018, the defendant was found to have no lawful immigration 
status in the United States and an immigration judge ordered him removed.  On February 21, 
2019, he was warned that he was ineligible to return to the United States at any time unless he 
received authorization from the Attorney General of the United States or the Secretary for the 
Department of Homeland Security.  On February 28, 2019, he was removed to Jamaica.  He 
nonetheless illegally returned to the United States. 

The defendant appears to go by several aliases, including “Darnell Dogan” and 
“Boom Blaze,” under which he was charged in his previous federal prosecution, and “Marcus 
Ricketts,” under which he was removed to Jamaica.  He has also used the names “Conroy 
Blaise” and “Prince.” 

III. The Court Should Enter a Permanent Order of Detention

A. Legal Standard

Under the Bail Reform Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 3141 et seq., federal courts are
empowered to order a defendant’s detention pending trial upon a determination that “no 
condition or combination of conditions would reasonably assure the appearance of the person as 
required and the safety of any other person and the community[.]”  18 U.S.C. § 3142(e).  A 
rebuttable presumption of dangerousness and risk of flight arises when a defendant is charged 
with an offense under the Controlled Substances Act that carries a maximum term of 
imprisonment of 10 years or more.  18 U.S.C. § 3142(e)(3)(A).  The presumption means that the 
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Court must initially assume there is “no condition or combination of conditions that will 
reasonably assure the appearance of the person as required and the safety of the community.”  18 
U.S.C. § 3124(e)(3).  To rebut this statutory presumption, the defendant must come “forward 
with evidence that he does not pose a danger to the community or a risk of flight.”  United States 
v. Mercedes, 254 F.3d 433, 436 (2d Cir. 2001) (per curiam).  If this burden of production is 
satisfied, the government retains the burden of persuasion by clear and convincing evidence that 
the defendant presents a danger to the community and by a preponderance of the evidence that 
the defendant presents a risk of flight.  Id.   

To determine whether the presumptions of dangerousness and flight are rebutted 
by a defendant, the Court must consider: (1) the nature and circumstances of the crime charged; 
(2) the weight of the evidence against the defendant; (3) the history and characteristics of the 
defendant, including family ties, employment, financial resources, community ties, drug or 
alcohol abuse history and past conduct; and (4) the nature and seriousness of the danger to the 
community or to an individual that would be posed by release.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3142(g).  If the 
defendant has met his burden of production to rebut the presumption, the Court must consider the 
same four factors in determining whether the government has proven dangerousness or risk of 
flight to the requisite standard.  The presumption in favor of detention does not disappear but 
remains a factor for the court to consider.  Mercedes, 254 F.3d at 436.   

The concept of “dangerousness” encompasses not only the effect of a defendant’s 
release on the safety of identifiable individuals, such as witnesses, but also “‘the danger that the 
defendant might engage in criminal activity to the detriment of the community.’”  United States 
v. Millan, 4 F.3d 1038, 1048 (2d Cir. 1993) (quoting legislative history).  In considering risk of 
flight, courts have found that where the evidence of guilt is strong, it provides “a considerable 
incentive to flee.”  United States v. Millan, 4 F.3d 1038, 1046 (2d Cir. 1993).  The possibility of 
a severe sentence likewise creates a strong incentive to flee.  See United States v. Jackson, 823 
F.2d 4, 7 (2d Cir. 1987); United States v. Martir, 782 F.2d 1141, 1147 (2d Cir. 1986) (defendants 
charged with serious offenses with significant maximum terms had potent incentives to flee). 

 
 B. Analysis 

The defendant is presently charged with engaging in a narcotics trafficking 
conspiracy, which carries a maximum term of 20 years’ imprisonment.  21 U.S.C. 
§§ 841(b)(1)(C), 846.  Accordingly, a rebuttable presumption of detention applies.  18 U.S.C. 
§ 3142(e)(3)(A).  The defendant cannot overcome the presumption here, and in any event each of 
the factors outlined in the Bail Reform Act weighs strongly in favor of the defendant’s detention.   

First, the charged offense is serious, of which there can be no dispute.  The 
defendant is charged with engaging in a marijuana trafficking conspiracy involving a quantity of 
marijuana worth half a million dollars.  The defendant and numerous co-conspirators convened 
at an Airbnb in Brighton Beach for a wholesale narcotics transaction.  The defendant and his co-
conspirators came armed with multiple firearms, four of which were subsequently recovered, and 
two of which had obliterated serial numbers.  Gunshots ripped through the house, with at least 15 
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rounds fired from .38, .40 and 9mm caliber firearms,2 which resulted in a fatality.  When the 
defendant fled the residence after the shootout, he did so with a firearm visibly in his hand.  
Moreover, the defendant escaped with one of the very large bags of marijuana and robbed a 
passerby of a Citibike to aid in his flight.   

Second, the evidence of the defendants’ guilt is strong.  In addition to the physical 
evidence recovered, including four firearms, numerous shell casings, wholesale quantities of 
marijuana, narcotics paraphernalia, and real and counterfeit U.S. currency, the evidence also 
consists of, among other things, witness testimony, security footage, historical cell-site data, 
phone records and license plate reader data.  

Third, the defendant’s history and characteristics demonstrate that he poses a 
danger to the community if released and that he is a significant a risk of flight.  As recounted 
above, the defendant has a criminal history involving violence and firearms offenses, bench 
warrants, and the commission of new criminal activity while on release.  While wanted on bench 
warrants relating to a firearms offense, the defendant plotted and attempted to commit an armed 
home invasion of an individual in the Bronx, New York, aided by multiple co-conspirators, for 
which the defendant was convicted of attempted Hobbs Act robbery.   

Additionally, the defendant has no lawful status in the United States, was 
previously deported to Jamaica, was warned that he was ineligible to return at any time without 
the consent of the Attorney General of the United States or the Secretary for the Department of 
Homeland Security, but nonetheless returned and continued his pattern of criminal activity.  
Although the defendant knew he was wanted on February 10, 2022, the defendant remained a 
fugitive for five days and threatened that law enforcement would be unable to find him. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
2  Only .38 and .40 caliber firearms were recovered.  Accordingly, at least one 

additional firearm was used in the shootout, a 9mm caliber firearm, which has not been 
recovered by law enforcement. 
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IV. Conclusion 

  For the foregoing reasons, the government respectfully requests that the Court 
issue a permanent order of detention for the defendant Marcus Ricketts. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

BREON PEACE 
United States Attorney 

 
By:       /s/ Tara McGrath  

Tara McGrath 
Assistant U.S. Attorneys 

       (718) 254-6454 

cc: Defense Counsel of Record (by email) 
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